Dr Arthur Jones

BIOLOGY – A Critique of Naturalist Science

Contents

1.	Introduction	1
2.	The Bush of Knowledge	1
3.	Naturalism	4
4.	Evolutionism	9
5.	Two Foundational Laws of Biology	13
	Variation	13
7.	Information	14
8.	Fossils	16
9.	Developmental Biology	17
10.	References & Bibliography	22
11.	About the Author	31

1. Introduction

I first encountered the issue of origins as a high school student in the middle of the 1960s. At that time I found little help in the available Christian literature – which was very sparse compared to today. The (mainly American) creationist literature breathed an overly rationalist view of science, and also tended to promote dubious scientific theories. The modern revelations from the history and philosophy of science (then just beginning) were ignored, or unknown. The theistic evolution literature I found very unsatisfactory regarding its treatment of orthodox Christian theology, and of Biblical exegesis. I decided that I must try to find out for myself. In 1965 I went to Birmingham University (UK) to read biology, determined to find out all I could about creation and evolution and eventually do research in some relevant topic of origins biology. By the time I left with a doctorate in zoology, I had become a convinced creationist on both Biblical and scientific grounds. In the nearly 50 years since, I have encountered much to refine my understanding, but nothing to change that fundamental conviction.

2. The Bush of Knowledge

2.1. The *Bush of Knowledge* (© Richard Russell & Arthur Jones, 1969) shows how - in every area of study.- the data (*aka* 'facts') are understood in the terms of a theory, against the frame of reference of a paradigm (*aka* conceptual framework, research programme), within a philosophical view of reality, and from a religious stance. This should not be understood as a postmodern approach, but that 'strong objectivity' (to appropriate a term from Sandra Harding – see *Whose Science? Whose Knowledge?* Open University Press, 1991, page 42) demands an exposure and critique of every level in the framework of explanation.

2.2. Religion

The term 'religion' (aka 'faith' or 'worldview') can be misunderstood as referring only to the followers of the main world religions (such as Christianity, Islam, Judaism, Hinduism etc.). The term 'worldview' is thus often to be preferred, because it is widely accepted that everyone has a worldview. However, with that understanding, we will stay with the more familiar word 'religion'.

The religion of those who accept the secular scientific theory of evolution is that of **ATHEISM**. BUT we must remember that someone's religion is not what they might claim it is, or even what they might think it is!

Someone's religion is Atheism if they live and act:

- as if there is no God
- as if faith is irrelevant to everyday life
- as if a Godless and faithless life is natural and normal

So the challenge to us all is: 'What kind of life feels most natural and normal to us?' Is it that of a Biblical Christian worldview, or that of a secular, naturalist worldview?

2.3. General Philosophy

Every research enterprise is based on general philosophical assumptions about the nature of reality, assumptions of:

- ontology what is reality, the world in which we live? Is physical (material) nature all that really exists (Naturalism)? Or are there other irreducible aspects of reality besides the physical? Or are there even aspects of reality that are inaccessible to purely human (e.g. scientific) investigation and unknowable by it?
- **anthropology** what are we as human beings? Are we just very complicated chemical machines, confined to only those experiences possible in a purely material reality? Or is our human being more than the material, so that we can communicate with an unseen spiritual reality as theists believe?
- epistemology how do we know anything? In a purely physical world, the
 conclusion seems inescapable that our acts, thoughts, and beliefs will be
 wholly determined by our material being (by our genes, hormones etc.) and
 our sense of free will be just a delusion. Or, as in Christian belief, is there a
 Creator who has made a universe that is knowable by his human creatures, as
 they follow the guidance and understanding the Creator makes available to
 them, if they are willing to accept it?

With reference to the topic of this paper, is biology wholly reducible to physics and chemistry, or is the biological another irreducible aspect of reality? I will argue for the latter, drawing attention to an insightful comment of Boris Pasternak (1890-1960) in

Doctor Zhivago: "Life is never a material, a substance to be moulded. If you want to know, life is the principle of self-renewal, it is constantly renewing and remaking and changing and transfiguring itself." (Doctor Zhivago, London: Flamingo, 1984, page 373). Developing that insight, I would suggest that life is fundamentally generation (think: reproduction, development, differentiation, adaptation etc) and that biological entities (ecosystems, communities, organisms, cells, organelles etc) are fundamentally generative systems. All biological statements then have a fundamental reference to generative activity.

There are two major General Philosophies relevant for our understanding of the evolution/creation debate: those of *Naturalism* and *Evolutionism*, which we will consider in Sections **3** (pp 4-9) and **4** (pp 9-12) below

2.4. Discipline Philosophies

At any period in the development of its research programmes, every discipline is characterised by certain disciplinary, philosophical commitments. Modern biology is dominated by the philosophies of:

Mechanism – the universe is a material, mechanical system wherein all events are to be explained by preceding events which are their causes.

and

Atomism – all wholes are to be explained by analysis into their parts, *e.g.* organisms into their genes.

2.5. Paradigms

In the sciences, paradigms provide the key concepts and show how these concepts interrelate to create a framework for research.

Examples of paradigms in the physical sciences are: atomic theory, chemical bonding theory, kinetic theory of gases, quantum theory, chaos theory, conservation of energy law, law of increasing entropy, big bang theory, electromagnetic theory and the least action principle.

Examples of paradigms in the biological sciences are: cell theory, exclusion principle (in ecology), gene theory, the principle of homeostasis (in physiology), sociobiology, selfish gene theory, law of biogenesis, Darwinism, Structuralism (in developmental biology), principle of homology (in morphology).

Darwinism, for example, provides a framework for research utilizing key concepts such as 'variation', 'heredity', 'adaptation', 'fitness', 'environment' and 'natural selection', and shows how these concepts interrelate to explain the evolution of organisms.

These paradigm concepts do not refer directly to things we can observe and

measure (the 'instances' - we say that they are *non-instantiative* concepts). For example, we cannot go and directly observe an 'environment'. It is not the space in which an organism lives, nor its physical surroundings. It is a biological (or, I would say, a 'generative') concept. As such it refers to all those extrinsic factors (both external and internal) that significantly influence (support or hinder) an organism's vital (generative) functions – its normal development through its life-cycle. To utilize the concept we must discover, concretely and exactly, what the 'environment' is for a particular organism. Identifying an environment may not be easy. Two organisms may live in the same pond (same habitat), but their environments may be very different. Incidentally, this is a key issue with the peppered moth story – despite all the research to date, we still do not understand enough about the moth's environment. Similar problems attend the use of all the other paradigm concepts.

2.6. Paradigms in Genetics

The relevant genetic paradigm is neo-Mendelism (particulate heredity – that the factors governing heredity are material 'atoms', now called 'genes') and neo-Weismannism (germ-line heredity – that the germline gives rise to the body, but that the body does not influence the germline). Here I share Jonathan Well's conclusion (*The End of the Genetic Paradigm*, forthcoming) that there is over-whelming evidence that the fundamentals of heredity are non-atomistic and non-genic – see section **9**, page 17ff. On that count alone, (neo-)Darwinism would appear to be untenable.

3. Naturalism

3.1. Two famous quotes from Richard Dawkins:

"We are survival machines – robot vehicles blindly programmed to preserve the selfish molecules known as genes." (Richard Dawkins, *The Selfish Gene*. Oxford University Press, 1989, 2nd edn, page v.)

"The universe we observe has precisely the properties we should expect if there is, at bottom, no design, no purpose, no evil and no good, nothing but blind, pitiless indifference ... DNA neither knows nor cares. DNA just is. And we dance to its music." (Richard Dawkins, *River out of Eden: a Darwinian view of life*. London: Weidenfeld & Nicolson, 1995, page 133)

Or as John Lennon put it

"Above us only sky"

Here are the opening lines of John Lennon's *Imagine* (1971)

Imagine there's no Heaven It's easy if you try

No hell below us Above us only sky

Imagine is not a "plea for world peace"

(https://en.wikipedia.org/wiki/Imagine (John Lennon album, accessed 05/09/2019), but seductive, atheist propaganda. Lennon "later expressed his displeasure with the more commercial sound of the album, saying that the <a href="https://eichen.com/tile="tel://eichen.com/t

3.2. Naturalism (also known as *scientism*, *positivism*, *physicalism* and *(scientific) materialism*, though, strictly, these all have their own specific nuanced meanings) is the real issue. Naturalism is the belief that physical (material) nature is all there is.

So what is the secular, naturalist story?

In the beginning was nothing. By chance this nothingness gave rise to something. By chance this something gave rise to matter and energy. By chance and over billions of years this matter and energy gradually gave rise to stars and galaxies, to asteroids, comets, meteors and planets. By chance living things gradually evolved and finally, after billions of years, by chance, intelligent life arose.

But just marinade in the story as C.S. Lewis tells it:

"Supposing this to be a myth, is it not one of the finest myths which human imagination has yet produced? The play is preceded by the most austere of all preludes: the infinite void, and matter restlessly moving to bring forth it knows not what. Then, by the millionth millionth chance – what tragic irony – the conditions at one point of space and time bubble up into that tiny fermentation which is the beginning of life. Everything seems to be against the infant hero of our drama - just as everything seems against the youngest son or ill-used stepdaugther at the opening of a fairy-tale. But life somehow wins through. With infinite suffering, against all but insuperable obstacles, it spreads, it breeds, it complicates itself: from the amoeba up to the plant, up to the reptile, up to the mammal. We glance briefly at the age of monsters. Dragons prowl the earth, devour one another and die. Then comes the theme of the younger son and the ugly duckling once more. As the weak, tiny spark of life began amidst the huge hostilities of the inanimate, so now again, amidst the beasts that are far larger and stronger than he, there comes forth a little naked, shivering, cowering creature, shuffling, not yet erect, promising nothing: the product of another millionth millionth chance. Yet somehow he thrives. He becomes the Cave Man with his club and his flints, muttering and growling over his enemies' bones, dragging his screaming mate by her hair (I could never quite make out why), tearing his children to pieces in fierce jealousy till one of them is old enough to tear him, cowering before the terrible gods whom he has created in his own image."

("Is Theology Poetry?" (1944 address) The Socratic Digest, 3, 1945, 25-35,

reprinted in *They Asked for a Paper: Papers and Addresses*, London: Geoffrey Bles, 1962, pages 154-165 and revised and extended as "The Funeral of a Great Myth", in *Christian Reflections*, London: Geoffrey Bles, 1967, Fount (Collins), 1981, pages 110-123, see pages 115-116)

What happened then? Well, it all eventually returns to nothing: every individual dies, every species becomes extinct, and every planet, star, and galaxy comes to an end.

The poet Philip Larkin (1922-1985) put it like this in his poem *The Old Fools*:

What do they think has happened, the old fools,
To make them like this? Do they somehow suppose
It's more grown-up when your mouth hangs open and drools,
And you keep on pissing yourself, and can't remember
Who called this morning? Or that, if they only chose,
They could alter things back to when they danced all night,
Or went to their wedding, or sloped arms some September?
Or do they fancy there's really been no change,
And they've always behaved as if they were crippled or tight,
Or sat through days of thin continuous dreaming
Watching light move? If they don't (and they can't), it's strange:
Why aren't they screaming?

At death, you break up: the bits that were you Start speeding away from each other for ever With no one to see. It's only oblivion, true: We had it before, but then it was going to end, And was all the time merging with a unique endeavour

To bring to bloom the million-petalled flower
Of being there. Next time you can't pretend
There'll be anything else. And these are the first signs:
Not knowing how, not hearing who, the power
Of choosing gone. Their looks show that they're for it:
Ash hair, toad hands, prune face dried into lines —
How can they ignore it?

For a naturalist like Larkin, we come from oblivion and one day we will return to this nothingness. Larkin does not lack faith. He has faith in a story that preaches that 'nature' is all there is.

Naturalism entails the belief that there is no immaterial (or *spiritual*) realm beyond physical detection, *i.e.* that there is no spirit, soul, angels or God. It is the belief that there is no intelligence, design, or purpose behind, or at work in the universe. Hence it is the belief that all real knowledge comes from empirical science, with the aid of only mathematics and logic. Everything else is seen as merely a matter of individual opinion. In particular, philosophy and religion are reduced to the status of mere opinion. Thus for many secular scientists, debates with believers are debates between objective scientific proof and religious blind faith. They do not doubt for one moment that there is no god and that all religions are false.

We live in a culture in which the only kind of knowledge recognised to be knowledge comes from empirical science. This is the default setting in education and in the media. Consequently we nearly all absorb naturalism unawares. Since our lifechoices will reflect the Truth, or idolatry, that has already captured our hearts, this is where the battle really lies. In order to live a life of obedience to God we have to overcome a *naturalism-by-default* that both surrounds us and is lodged in our own hearts.

Naturalism is the greatest threat to Christian faith today. It is like having elephants in your house. You may like elephants, tolerate them, or ignore them, but if you leave them there, they will crush everything anyway.

3.3. Problems with Naturalism

The first thing to say is that Naturalism cannot meet its own criteria. The scholars would say that it is 'self-referentially incoherent' – see Roy Clouser, 2005, page 84. Naturalism is an exception to itself – it cannot be justified by mathematics, logic or empirical science. It may still be true, but, limited to its own criteria, we can never know. John Gray, Professor of European Thought at the *London School of Economics*, rightly describes it as a *faith*: "It is a confession of faith: the Enlightenment faith that, with the growth of knowledge and wealth, human beings will shed their various divisive identities to become members of a universal civilization." (*Heresies*, London: Granta Books, 2004, page 176; *cf Al Qaeda and What it Means to be Modern*, Faber and Faber, 2003, page 104) Earlier he comments, "Of all modern delusions, the idea that we live in a secular age is the furthest from reality ... liberal humanism is itself very obviously a religion – a shoddy replica of Christian faith markedly more irrational than the original article, and in recent times more harmful." (*ibid*, page 41)

Naturalism limits science to what scientific instruments can measure. The trouble with this is that what scientists are really interested in are *causes* – not what happens, but what *causes* it to happen, *why* it happens. But no instrument can detect causes. An instrument can tell us that **B** follows **A**, but not that **A** *causes* **B**. To interpret a sequence of events in terms of causality we require knowledge that cannot be generated by naturalistic science.

It would seem that very few people become naturalists by intention; rather Naturalism is usually absorbed unawares from the culture. The reason this is the case is related to the first point above. It is simply impossible to live, intentionally and consistently, a naturalistic life – every human being lives within a framework of non-naturalistic knowledge, a framework of meaning (as we shall see below).

The key point that is hardly appreciated today is that everything we really know, we know by direct experience.

The best discussion of this key point is in another book by the Christian philosopher Roy Clouser – *Knowing with the Heart: Religious Experience and Belief in God* (2007) "Proving is actually an inferior way of coming to know something, a way we resort to when we can't directly experience what we want to know." (2007 page 11)

3.4. What We Know by Direct Experience

We know by direct experience that we exist, that other people (other minds) exist, that the external world around us exists, that we are conscious and self-aware, that we are awake and not dreaming (or part of a computer virtual reality *a la Matrix*), that the *qualia* are real (the way it 'feels' to be in pain, to see red, to smell a flower, to stroke a cat ...), that our information-gathering capacities (sight, hearing, smell, touch, taste *etc*) are in good working order, that our cognitive (knowledge-forming, belief-forming) faculties (memory, perception, reason) are functioning reliably (that the great bulk of their deliverances are true, that they generally give us true beliefs), that we are free causal agents (that we can make choices and act intentionally), that beauty is real, that love is real, that the axioms of maths hold and the rules of logic apply.

Science cannot prove any of these things. None of them are the product of argument or inference. No known past or present argument of this sort actually works. They are the product of perception. In any case, apparently unanswerable sceptic arguments never seem to make the slightest difference to anyone's actual beliefs about other minds, the external world *etc*. Rather we have been created with innate faculties that immediately (though often implicitly) generate such beliefs and, if our faculties are operating properly in appropriate circumstances, then it is rationally legitimate for us to accept those beliefs.

3.5. Science in Faith?

Some of the things that science must take for granted cannot even be known by direct experience. These include many foundational assumptions about the universe and about people that are necessary for the scientific enterprise to proceed. Yet we cannot know if these assumptions are true either by direct experience, or by scientific proof.

In order to do science we assume that the universe is orderly (rational, lawful), that it is intelligible (that our reasoning is attuned to the rational structure of the universe), that the past actually occurred, that the world is uniform and consistent (e.g., that the laws that apply here today apply everywhere else and at all times), that causality applies (there are real causes having real effects), that there are right and wrong ways to act, that the scientific enterprise is worthwhile (and so we pursue it), that the universe is good (rewards our searching, doesn't act capriciously). In other words we assume that the world is (or at least like) a creation!

We assume that scientists are free, rational beings, that they can communicate meaningfully with each other, and that they can collaborate effectively.

What we have seen is that there is a tremendous amount outside the boundaries of science that science must assume in order to operate, but which it can never prove nor explain. If we are rationally justified in accepting science, then we must be rationally justified in accepting these foundational presuppositions of science. In other words there is a *deeper* source of rational justification than science.

The famous media scientist (theoretical physicist) Paul Davies was on the right track, when he wrote that, "Science began as an outgrowth of theology, and all scientists, whether atheists or theists, ... accept an essentially theological worldview." (Davies, 1995, pages 90-91)

3.6. Science and Everyday Observations

Consider the following two statements:

"Babies are happier with their mothers than when separated from them" – report on the findings of a 3-year, £20 million scientific study (!!).

"For millennia we thought that the sun rises and sets upon the Earth. We now know that this is untrue – the apparent motion of the sun is due to a revolving Earth."

Both statements are re-enforcing the idea that we don't know anything until scientific experts have established, or interpreted it. This is palpable nonsense. The uniformities on which we base our everyday reasoning have been observed by billions of people over thousands of years. That is a much larger support base than is enjoyed by any modern scientific theory. The theories of modern science provide more precise information; the price paid for that precision is that they are less likely to be true. Our everyday observations may certainly be open to more than one theoretical explanation, but that does not impugn their truth. They remain the basic data that any theory must explain (see Jones, 2006).

4. Evolutionism

4.1. We live in a *uni*verse. It has an intelligible unity and order that our minds can grasp. Without that unity and order there could be neither philosophy nor science. For secularists the pressing question then is: How do we account for this unity and order, if there is no Creator outside the world system, and, therefore, the unity and order have to be grounded within creation? The historical answer has been the philosophy we now know as *evolutionism*. Evolutionism asserts that everything that has ever existed is part of a great continuity in space and time. The claim is that it is this continuity that accounts for the rational unity and order that the universe displays. (For the history see Lovejoy, 1936; see also Lewis, 1964; Hunter, 2007)

The claim is, of course, another palpable nonsense, and we will address that on page 10 below.

This is the cultural significance of Darwinism. For both its original author, Charles Darwin, and its leading modern proponents, Darwinism is *the* naturalistic theory of biological origins. The primary cultural role of Darwinism is as a key part of the *naturalistic origins myth of secularism* (see Flannery, 2008; Hunter, 2007 and Wiker, 2009). In other words, if atheistic naturalism is true, then something like Darwinian evolution must follow. This is why many argue that Darwinism *must* be true:

"We take the side of science *in spite* of the patent absurdity of some of its constructs, *in spite* of its failure to fulfil many of its extravagant promises of health and life, *in spite* of the tolerance of the scientific community for unsubstantiated just-so stories, because we have a prior commitment, a commitment to materialism [naturalism]. It is not that the methods and institutions of science somehow compel us to accept a material explanation for the phenomenal world, but, on the contrary, that we are forced by our a priori adherence to material causes to create an apparatus of investigation and a set of concepts that produce material explanations, no matter how counterintuitive, no matter how mystifying to the uninitiated. Moreover, that materialism is absolute, for we cannot allow a divine foot in the door ... To appeal to an omnipotent deity is to allow that at any moment the regularities of nature may be ruptured, that miracles may happen ..." (Richard Lewontin, Professor of Zoology, Harvard University, 1997, p 31)

The crucial point here is that if one does not assume that naturalism is true, then the evidence for Darwinism, and even for universal common descent itself, is very small indeed.

4.2. The Principle of Continuity

Statements affirming this principle (or law) are found throughout the literature:

"I cannot avoid believing the possibility of this [inorganic origin of life] will be proved some day in accordance with the law of continuity." (Charles Darwin, Letter to D. Mackintosh, 1882, in Francis Darwin (ed), 1903, p 171.)

"Our faith in the idea of evolution depends on our reluctance to accept the antagonistic doctrine of special creation, because this view is foreign to our belief in the continuity of law and order." (Louis More, American physicist, 1925, p 304.)

In any endeavour to trace the evolution of a highly specialised organ, a difficulty often arises in the application of what may be called the principle of continuity. It is repugnant to reason to suppose that eye or ear appeared suddenly in evolutionary history. Their evolution *must* have been a continuous process... (Richard Pumphrey, Professor of Zoology, University of Liverpool, 1950, pp 5-6.)

Francis Crick, British biophysicist and Nobel Prize winner, rejected a theory of the origin of the genetic code because, 'it violates the principle of continuity'. (Francis Crick, 1968, p 372.)

There is, of course, no such law or principle in science. Such continuity is not an empirical (or inductive) finding of scientific investigation; nor is it a theoretical principle of proven fruitfulness: it is purely and simply a dogma of the evolutionist faith.

4.3. The Naturalistic Basis for Reason and Science

The principle of continuity is then seen as the only possible basis for reason and science, a claim that is endlessly and fervently repeated:

"Evolution theories have been accepted not because observers have witnessed evolution, but because countless facts of biology make sense on the assumption that evolution has happened and is happening, and these facts make no sense otherwise." (Edmund Sinnott, Leslie Clarence Dunn & Theodosius Dobzhansky, American geneticists, 1958, p 276)

"It is no longer possible to give a complete or even a coherent account of living things without the story of evolution." (Evelyn Klinckmann, American biologist, 1970, p 14.)

"Without that idea [evolution] one is left in chaos: there is no scientific meaning to the facts." (Elizabeth Perrott *et al.*, biologists, 1974, p 51.)

"With modifications to include new findings, they [hypotheses about the evolution of the universe, earth and life] have become the central organising theories that make the universe as a whole intelligible, lend coherence to all of science, and provide fruitful direction to modern research." (National Academy of Sciences, 1984, p 7)

It should hardly need pointing out that these are not statements of empirical science, but expressions of a religious faith. In a naturalist world, there is no reason to expect a continuity to be rational and orderly, rather than irrational and chaotic.

Listen to Law professor Phillip Johnson recounting his experience:

"When a few years ago I began pressing in university circles the question whether evolutionary naturalism is true, I was met mainly with blank incomprehension. Ask a group of intellectuals whether neo-Darwinism is really true, I learned, and you can hear minds snapping shut all around the room.

When I did get a reply, it usually was that "evolution" is the best naturalistic theory and that naturalism is the philosophical basis of science and thus equivalent to rationality. Hence naturalism is "the way we think today." To ask modernists whether science is true is like asking them whether rationality is rational or truth is truthful. Science is, by modernist definition, our only truly objective way of knowing anything." (Phillip Johnson, 1995, page 195)

4.4. Evolution as Religion

Little wonder that scientific debates over evolution often sound like political or religious debates and that philosophers identify a *religion of science* in it all.

"When I was a boy I believed that 'Darwin discovered evolution' and that the far more general, radical, and even cosmic developmentalism which till lately

dominated all popular thought was a superstructure raised on the biological theorem. This view has been sufficiently disproved. ... The demand for a developing world – a demand obviously in harmony with the revolutionary and the romantic temper – grows up first; when it is full grown the scientists go to work and discover the evidence on which our belief in that sort of universe would now be held to rest."

(C.S. Lewis, 1898-1963, Professor of Medieval and Renaissance Literature, Cambridge University, 1964, pages 220-221)

"It is as a *religion of science* that Darwinism chiefly held, and holds, men's minds ... neo-Darwinism is not only a scientific theory, and a comprehensive, seemingly self-confirming theory, but a theory deeply embedded in a metaphysical faith: in the faith that science can and must explain all the phenomena of nature in terms of one hypothesis, and that an hypothesis of maximum simplicity, of maximum impersonality and objectivity ... man seems at home in a simply rational world." (Marjorie Grene, 1910-2009, American philosopher of science, 1966, page 187 & 199-200)

"Marxism and evolutionism, the two great secular faiths of our day ... They are, not accidentally, but by their very nature, dominant creeds, explicit faiths by which people live and to which they try to convert others. They tend to alter the world."

"Evolution ... is the creation myth of our age. By telling us our origins it shapes our views of what we are. It influences not just our thought, but our feelings and actions too, in a way which goes far beyond its official function as a biological theory ... today, a surprising number of the elements which used to belong to traditional religion have regrouped themselves under the heading of science, mainly around the concept of evolution."

(Mary Midgley (1919-2018), formerly senior lecturer in Philosophy at the University of Newcastle upon Tyne, 1985, pages 15-16, 30-31)

"Ultimately the Darwinian theory of evolution is no more nor less than the great cosmogenic myth of the twentieth century." (Michael Denton, b 1943, molecular biologist, 1985, page 358)

"[History will ultimately judge neo-Darwinism as] a minor twentieth-century religious sect within the sprawling religious persuasion of Anglo-Saxon biology." (Lynn Margulis, b 1938, professor of biology at the University of Massachusetts, quoted by Mann, 1991 from a 1990 article)

"The idea is that life arose and evolved to its present form solely because of the laws of chemistry, and ultimately of particle physics. In the prevailing naturalistic worldview, evolutionary theory plays the crucial role in showing how physics can be the theory of everything."

(Thomas Nagel, b 1937, American atheist, professor of philosophy at New York University, 2008, page 202)

5. Two Foundational Laws of Biology

There are two fundamental laws in biology to consider: the law of biogenesis and the law of heredity

5.1. The Law of Biogenesis: Living things arise only from other living things.

Origin of Life [OOL] studies have taught us a lot, but as regards OOL they have bequeathed us abysmal results and seemingly insurmountable problems. The problem is that – *outside* of *living* organisms – the organic products of these experiments react together to produce biologically useless materials. What OOL experiments overwhelmingly give us are *geopolymers* – complex red oils and black tars – not the molecules of life.

5.2. The Law of Heredity: Living things arise only from other living things of the same kind.

All living organisms belong to distinct natural kinds. Variation and hybridisation occur only within these kinds. In every experiment to date where we have tried to push past the normal limits of variation, whether with *Drosophila*, *E. coli*, or a variety of other plants and animals, we have always been stopped at a point where either further changes are lethal to the organisms, or further variation is simply not possible.

Consider the example of bacteria. These have been experimented on over far more generations than any other organisms (in fact over *thousands* of generations), but with no evolutionary results:

"Throughout 150 years of the science of bacteriology, there is no evidence that one species of bacteria has changed into another"

Prof Alan Linton, Bacteriologist, Bristol University (2001, page 29)

The Darwinian Theory of evolution predicts that hundreds, thousands, millions, and even billions of bits of functional information can be generated through natural processes. This is a fundamental tenet, yet we have no evidence of natural processes that can do any such thing. At present about 30 bits is all that can be achieved!! (Durston, 2008 – this paper is no longer available online; but see Durston, 2017, 2019)

These two laws are the most rigorously tested and confirmed in the whole of biology. No exceptions to them have ever been found.

6. Variation

6.1. Evolution is not Variation

Remember that, as contrasted with creationism, evolution is *not* the theory that organisms show variation – that has always been accepted by all sides – but the theory that there are *no limits to that variation*. It is the belief that there has been a

continuous development in time from hydrogen to humans, dust to stars, particles to peoples. In terms of naturalism, it is the belief that natural, unguided, unintelligent processes can generate significant amounts of functional information.

6.2. The Law of Heredity contradicts that claim. All living organisms (and all fossil remains) belong to distinct natural kinds. Variation and hybridization occur only within these kinds. In every single breeding experiment to date, where we try to push the limits to see how far we can go, we always hit a limit beyond which further change is lethal, or not possible. There are no exceptions:

"To clarify, individual experiments involving a particular trait may encounter a dead end, but given the millions of different organisms on the planet, evolutionary pathways to a novel genus, order, or phylum should be relatively easy to find with some experimentation if Darwinian evolution is possible. We should not expect to encounter dead ends for 100% of our experiments." (Durston 2008, page 4; see Durston 2017, 2019).

The problem is not that we haven't tried for long enough; the problem is that we hit the biological boundaries so soon. Nor is there any evidence that time is a relevant factor. With bacteria, for example, we have been pursuing the experiments for thousands of generations as noted above (Linton, 2001, see also Behe, 2007)

7. Information

7.1. Information an Irreducible Aspect of reality

Information is irreducible to physics and chemistry – to matter and energy. Information is independent of the physical embodiment or *carrier*. The same information can be stored and accessed as writing on paper, as magnetic points on a computer's hard disc, as electric domains in a random-access memory, as bumps on a CD, as bases in DNA, or as thought in a human mind.

7.2. Information in Organisms

In living organisms the information is *coded* information. A naturalist might claim that coded information is just a string of characters and that any string of characters can be obtained by chance: "By means of a random generator and with enough time, we can obtain that information – it is a string of characters only." But it is much more than a string of characters. In living organisms the coded information is always expressed through biological *machines*, where, thermodynamically speaking, biological machines are devices that capture random environmental energy thereby raising the local free energy so the machine can do useful work, *i.e.*, perform a biological *function*. But these machines can perform their function only if they have the information to do so, either given to them directly as (coded) information and/or inbuilt in the design of the whole system – which design is, of course, the product of an earlier input of information (see Durston, 2008, 2017, 2019, Johnson, 2010, McIntosh, 2006, 2009, 2013). No amount of random energy flow will produce either

the machines or the information. We have no evidence whatsoever that naturalistic (mindless, unintelligent) processes can produce either living organisms, or new biological systems.

7.3. Information Confirms the Irreducibility of Organisms

The irreducibility of information is one way of explaining why it is right to assume that biology cannot be reduced to, or explained by, physics and chemistry. We can also consider the machine-like nature of organisms. Machines do not break any physical laws, or contradict any physical processes, but they cannot be defined by, or reduced to those laws and processes. A machine 'encapsulates' those laws and processes for the purposes specified by its (technological) design (see Polanyi, 1968). Similarly the biological functioning of living organisms depends on physical and chemical processes and does not contravene them in any way. But organisms are not physically defined and cannot be reduced to physical and chemical functioning. Organisms 'encapsulate' the physical laws and processes for the purposes specified by their (biological) design. We may fairly assume that, whilst the further accumulation of chemical and physical knowledge will teach us more about the functioning of organisms, it will not solve the mystery of the origin and nature of life, nor of the nature of consciousness, or mind, or intelligence.

7.4. Beyond the Reach of Chance

For a different illustration of the problem facing naturalistic theories we can turn to the English language. There are many three letter English words. In fact of all the possible three-letter combinations of the 26 English letters, about 1 in 30 are meaningful words in English. It is therefore relatively easy to construct a sequence of meaningful English words (words with linguistic 'fitness') by changing one letter at each step (a linguistic 'gene mutation'). Furthermore we can construct several different routes between two words, or arrive at different end-points (e.g. can \rightarrow cat \rightarrow bat \rightarrow bag or can \rightarrow fan \rightarrow fat \rightarrow fen etc.).

If we then turn to seven-letter words, then a much smaller proportion of the possible seven-letter combinations are meaningful in English. Words like 'abandon', 'blister', 'yoghurt' and 'zoology'. In fact only about 1 in 100,000 are meaningful words. It is therefore very difficult, or even impossible, to 'evolve' from one word to another by changing one letter at a time. Finally if we turn to twelve-letter words - such as 'abbreviation', 'behaviourism', 'youthfulness' and 'zygapophysis' - we find that only about I in a 100 trillion of the possible twelve-letter combinations are meaningful. It is effectively impossible to 'evolve' from one word to a different one by one letter changes, or even, in most cases, by two or three letter changes. In contrast to this simple illustration of linguistic function, the protein molecules of life contain *hundreds* or thousands of amino acid 'letters'. Unlike with letters and words, the protein functions are not arbitrary. With proteins, researchers have shown that there are only very tiny islands of functional protein in unimaginably vast oceans of nonfunction (Meyer, 2009, chapter 9, pages 194-214). This non-function is not simply no specific function, but that these proteins cannot fold into stable forms – a physical pre-requisite for any biological function). Many of these islands of functionality are separated by thousands or even millions of bits of information. No known unquided

(mindless) natural processes have been shown to be able to cross even a 50 bit information gap – not even in the most favourable computer simulations (Durston, 2008, 2017, 2019). On the other hand, we do know one thing which can cross huge information gaps: we know that intelligent agents can produce unlimited quantities of new functional information.

That last point is crucial. This argument is not an argument from incredulity, nor a 'god-of-the-gaps' argument. It is an argument from *evidence*: the *negative evidence* of the inability of unguided natural forces to produce even relatively small gains in functional information, and the *positive evidence* that intelligent agents can produce unlimited quantities of new functional information.

For cogent replies to the endlessly repeated charge of 'God of the gaps' against ID and creationism see the papers by Larmer (2002), Larson (2009) and Snoke (2001).

7.5. Darwinism of the Gaps

Of course, naturalists might respond that we cannot prove that no naturalistic process exists that could cross these information gaps. Fair enough. But naturalists are claiming that a scientific theory of naturalistic evolution (*i.e.* Darwinism) *actually exists now.* Are they prepared to be honest and admit that *at present* this claim is false – that no such theory currently exists? And – as in forensic investigations – to admit that there comes a point at which it is no longer reasonable to deny that an event (say, origin of living organisms, origin of new body plans) was intended (a 'murder')? It is utterly unreasonable to continue to insist – against the steadily mounting evidence – that we are dealing with an extremely rare and unlikely 'accident'? After all, countless thousands of committed Darwinists have already laboured without success for generations. 'Darwinism (evolutionary naturalism) of the Gaps' ought to be as unacceptable as 'God of the Gaps'.

8. Fossils

8.1. Fish Fossil Record and Missing Links

For my research on the cichlid fish, I surveyed the fossil record of fish. In my thesis I wrote that all known fish fossils clearly belonged within modern fish kinds or to equally distinct extinct kinds: missing links were — well — missing! At my PhD viva this statement was brought up. The external examiner was Dr Humphrey Greenwood, then Assistant Director of the British Museum (Natural History) in London, world authority on cichlid fishes (my research area) and in charge of the greatest fossil fish collection in the world. He freely admitted that, although he believed in evolution, he could not contradict the statement. He knew of no fossil fish in his. or in any other fossil fish collection, that could honestly be described as a missing link.

8.2. Is the Fossil Record Very Incomplete?

The usual response to this (as it was Dr Greenwood's) is that the fossil record is incomplete: the missing links did exist, but their fossils have not yet been found, or perhaps were never formed, or haven't survived to the present day. According to Darwinism, the existing species are the tiny outermost twigs of the tree of life; most of the tree represents extinct ancestral species. On the assumption that this is true, texts commonly state that only one in 100 or in 1,000 or even in 10,000 of all species that have ever existed are alive today. How can one check that assumption? One obvious way is to see how many existing forms are found as fossils.

8.3. How Many Living Forms are Found as Fossils

Some years ago, when I undertook a fairly exhaustive survey of the vertebrate data, I was amazed at the high levels of representation in the fossil record. For many groups, species representation in the fossil record lies between 40% and 80%. Admittedly, as it is often difficult to identify species among fossils if the remains are fragmentary, it is better to look at genera (for plants) and families (for animals), *i.e.* those taxa that correspond most closely to what people generally recognise as a distinct kind of organism (*e.g.* bear, cat, dog, and horse families *etc.*). If we take animal families, representation as fossils is very high. If we consider land vertebrates, for example, then birds are regarded as being the most poorly represented as fossils, yet the data of D.M. Unwin (*Aves*, ch 40 in M.J. Benton (ed), *The Fossil Record 2*, 1993, pages 717-737) showed that of the 153 families of living bird species, species from 134 families (88%) are known as fossils.

Incidentally, the concentration in fossil texts on extinct kinds of organism (dinosaurs etc) hides the fact that most fossils are of kinds of organism that are still alive in the world today!

In short, yet again the empirical data do not match with the predictions of Darwinism (cf. pages 7-9 above).

9. Developmental Biology

9.1. Biological Atomism

Modern Darwinian biology is characterised by the view that every feature of organisms and the whole of development is determined by the genes. In other words, all biological heredity is grounded in a chemical called DNA, such that a given DNA molecular composition is the necessary and sufficient condition for a particular species. 'DNA is god and RNA is her prophet'! If this view is true then gene mutation and selection can be promoted to explain the continuity of evolution. Not surprisingly the commitment has prevailed throughout the modern era.

As long ago as 1966 Thomas Jukes wrote:

'the evolution of all living species is due to a series of changes in the order and length of the base sequences in DNA ... we strive, compete and reproduce to maintain the continuity of half of a long word written in a four-letter alphabet.' (Jukes 1966, 5-6).

In his review of Juke's book, C A Williams (1967:308) commented that we had witnessed 'the deification of a molecule'. Just a few years later A D Hershey (1970:699) could refer to 'the unwritten dogma, according to which biological evolution is solely the evolution of nucleotide sequences.' To this day the media scientists strongly affirm the foundational role of genes and DNA.

The trouble is that it has long been known to be untrue. I would argue that it was conclusively refuted as long ago as the 1950s! (see Section **9.4**, pages 20-21 below) The reality is that a dominant worldview commitment has always trumped contrary scientific evidence!

9.2. Genes Neither Prescribe Nor Control Development

When I began my own doctoral research (1968-1972), I was already sceptical of the 'DNA is all' dogma, because it was so obviously linked to reductionistic and evolutionary schemes (see Jones 1982; 1998, 41, 79-80). Indeed, everything is against the dogma. Fundamentally it hardly makes scientific sense (see Nelson 2008; Wells 2000, 189-193).

To argue that DNA determines everything is like claiming that a computer disc can not only copy itself, but can also create the whole computer/monitor/modem/printer *etc.* system that runs the programmes it encodes. Neither discs nor DNA can do any such thing. Even so dogmatic a naturalist evolutionist as the geneticist Richard Lewontin is clear about that:

'genes can *make* nothing. A protein is made by a complex system of chemical production involving other proteins, using the particular sequence of nucleotides in a gene to determine the exact formula for the protein being manufactured. ... proteins cannot be manufactured without *both* the gene and the rest of the machinery. Neither is more important. Isolating the gene as the "master molecule" is another unconscious ideological commitment, one that places brains above brawn, mental work as superior to mere physical work, information as higher than action.

Nor are genes self-replicating. They cannot make themselves any more than they can make protein. Genes are made by a complex machinery of proteins that uses the genes as models for more genes. ... if anything in the world can be said to be self-replicating, it is not the gene, but the entire organism as a complex system.' (Lewontin 1993, 48)

The mathematician, Ian Stewart makes the same point using the analogy of a CD:

'A CD (compact disc) contains a lot of information, impressed as tiny bumps – but without a CD *player*, you'll never know what the music is. You won't even

know that the bumps contain a message. ... By focusing on the DNA code, we are like someone trying to understand music who sequences the bumps on CDs, but doesn't take a look inside the CD player. My feeling is that the bumps on the CDs are a very simple trick, not especially interesting of themselves; all of the important action goes on inside the CD player. This is where the bumps are miraculously transformed into music. . .DNA is just the trick that earthly life uses to exploit the deep rules – it's not the rules themselves.' (Stewart 1998, 239-240).

9.3. Cells are the Minimum Unit of Heredity and Development

It has become clear that the whole cell system *is* a minimum unit of organism heredity. Genic processes have much to do with variation within kinds, but probably little to do with the distinction of kinds. Genes are best regarded as triggers in complex developmental systems rather than as creators, or causes of organic structures.

In this regard I found that there had been a vibrant creationist research programme in developmental biology *before Darwin* that has been partly taken up again by the modern 'structuralist' biologists (*e.g.* Stuart Kauffman and Brian Goodwin). Not surprisingly, the latter evolutionists are anti-Darwinian and anti-Dawkins (*e.g.* Goodwin 1994; Kauffman 1995). However their work can readily be interpreted in creationist terms. It may of course ultimately prove wrong (our science is always approximate and liable to error), but it at least gives the lie to the calumny that creationism is a science stopper.

In building a house, we need materials, assembly instructions, and a blueprint. The same building materials can be used to build many different structures, *e.g.* bricks can be used to make a garden shed, a house, or a cathedral. If they are assembled in the wrong place, or time, the result can be a mess. In an embryo, DNA is analogous to a list of building materials; it also contains some rudimentary assembly instructions. But abundant evidence shows that the blueprint is not in the DNA, and biologists not under the spell of neo-Darwinism (according to which DNA mutations are the ultimate raw material for evolution) have known this for decades.

Homeotic genes get a lot of press because mutations in them are so dramatic (e.g., legs sprouting from a fruit fly's head, or a second pair of normal-looking wings). But homeotic genes act long after the body plan is well established. They are also remarkably non-specific: A normal mouse Pax-6 gene can replace a mutated Pax-6 gene in a fruit fly, which will then develop normal eyes; but the eyes are fruit fly eyes, not mouse eyes. Homeotic genes are somewhat analogous to switches in a railway goods yard: They can send goods wagons down the right or wrong track, but they tell us nothing about what they are carrying, and they do not determine the layout of the goods yard.

Biologists have mutated every possible developmental gene in the fruit fly *Drosophila melanogaster* and the zebrafish *Danio rerio*, but the organisms remain *Drosophila melanogaster* and *Danio rerio*. They don't even change into similar-looking species of fruit flies or minnow-like fish (Cyprinids). There is no empirical evidence to justify

the claim that genetic changes alone could produce the differences between [say] chimps and humans. Judging from the evidence we actually have, we could change the genome of a chimp embryo all we want and there would be only three possible outcomes: a variety of normal chimp, a defective chimp, or a dead chimp.

Let me be clear. The argument is NOT that there is no scientific theory of development that we can discover and understand, but that Darwinian materialist reductionism is a major hindrance to that process of discovery. My expectation is that when a credible theory is finally articulated not only will we know that Darwinism is false, but also that universal common descent is biologically impossible. But the point for the present is simply that without a scientific theory of (embryological) development, there cannot be a scientific theory of evolution. Yet again (see pages 7-9 and 15-16 above) we must conclude that no such theory yet exists.

9.4 A Brief History of Whole Cell Views of Heredity

At this point, a little history will help to put it all in perspective. Fortunately the relevant history has been surveyed thoroughly and well by Jan Sapp in his doctoral thesis at the University of Montreal in 1984 (published as Sapp 1987). During the second half of the 19th century, the particulate (corpuscular) theories that dominated the physical sciences also came to dominate biology. Atomism ('Wholes are explained by analysis into their parts') and *Mechanism* ('All events are explained by preceding events which are their causes') dominate genetics to this day (refer back to Discipline Philosophies on page 3). The 'struggle for authority' of Sapp's title was that between embryologists and geneticists for hegemony in biology. In the late 19th and early 20th centuries the embryologists opposed the particulate consensus and it was then widely held among leading biologists that the genes only determine trivial features, whereas the cytoplasm (or cell as a whole) determines the fundamental constitution of each kind of animal or plant. However by the 1920s the view that the genes determine everything dominated genetics and by the 1930s the whole of biology. Furthermore it was by then widely assumed that the nature of the genes and their determination of development would one day be explained in physico-chemical terms. All very familiar to us all, but amongst embryologists and cell biologists, whole cell views of heredity have continued to find support. Ironically a strong case can be made that it was just as genetics won the battle that it lost the war. It was from around 1930 that the evidence of non-genic inheritance became persuasive and finally (by the mid-1950s) incontestable. But as you may have great difficulty in finding any references to this work, I'll discuss the key research:

Whilst early work was done on other animals, the focus from the early 1940s onwards shifted to the ciliated, unicellular animals. These include the 'slipper animalcule', *Paramecium*, of school biology fame. A series of papers by Tracy Sonneborn and others indicated that the cortical (surface and sub-surface) organisation of the ciliate cell was part of the hereditary system. They concluded that in addition to DNA, cells contain complex supramolecular 'templates', two- or three-dimensional structures composed of different macromolecules regulated by some unknown copying process. From the early 1950s Sonneborn *et al* were insisting that this had been demonstrated beyond question. The response? – marginalisation and vilification. Sonneborn was constantly called a 'Lamarckian' – in modern biology the

greatest term of abuse (after, of course, 'creationist'). Others dismissed the results as something unique to ciliates with their elaborate cell-surface architecture. If Drosophila is the centre stage of genetics then the ciliate protozoa are the 'bizarre, if not the lunatic fringe of biology' (reported by Brian Goodwin in 1984). John Maynard Smith (in 1982) appealed to democracy: there are 'very few cases' of this 'Lamarckian type of inheritance' over against 'a vast array in which transmission is by nucleic acids.' Nevertheless he suggested (in 1983) that these cases are 'the only significant experimental threat to our views. Others argue that the 'cytoplasmic foundation' for embryonic development is under genetic control, but by the mother, not the embryo itself: 'Ultimately, then, all developmental events can be altered by changes in the genes and in that sense are caused by genes.' (Futuyma 1986, 426). The majority, however, either know nothing of cortical inheritance, or ignore it. As Jan Sapp (1987, 219) concluded, 'Throughout the 1960s and 1970s, the evolutionary significance of cortical inheritance was largely ignored by neo-Darwinian evolutionists. Indeed, for the most part it still is.' (see also Sapp, 2003). And more than thirty years later it still is!

9.5. Cortical Inheritance is not Confined to Unicells

If there was ever a time when these results on cortical inheritance could be dismissed as a curiosity of some unicells, it is impossible to do so today:

- The unicell 'cortex' is a visible surface elaboration of the (intimately connected) plasmalemma (cell membrane) and cytoskeleton (networks of microscopic fibres). These are universal features of eukaryotic cells, and in all they have the necessary properties to participate in the generation and stabilisation of spatial patterns.
- Developmental processes appear to be universal, *i.e.* the available evidence indicates that the processes are similar, if not identical, in unicellular and multicellular organisms.
- Some unicells encyst (eg *Pleurotrichia*) and then all visible cortical structure is broken down and disappears. Yet cortical inheritance (including of experimental modifications) is unaffected. In other words cortical inheritance is not tied to the uniquely visible cortical structures of some unicells.
- Evidence of cortical inheritance is now available for many multicellular organisms and contrary evidence for none.

9.6. There is no Scientific Theory of Biological Development

This is not to claim that development is now understood. Far from it! All that is clear is that it cannot be reduced to genetic programmes written in the language of DNA nucleotide sequences. The entire cell is programmed for development and heredity in languages we have hardly yet begun to decipher, let alone understand. What can be said is as 'unpalatable' (to evolutionists) as it is true. In modern Darwinism (or

neo-Darwinism) gene mutations are the ultimate raw material for evolution, and natural selection modifies organisms through changes in gene frequencies. But if heredity and development are controlled by something other than genes, then evolution must be due to something other than (just) gene mutations and changes in gene frequencies.

9.7. There is no Scientific Theory of Darwinian Evolution

The most glaring gap in biological understanding today is that **THERE IS STILL NO THEORY OF DEVELOPMENT**. We can *describe* the development of a chicken from an egg, but *we do not understand how it occurs*. Current theory tells us how DNA carries coded information which cells use to manufacture all the chemical substances utilised by a particular organism. But at the end of the day that theoretical understanding leaves us with a bag of chemicals. Why THIS bag of chemicals gives rise to a cat, but THAT bag gives rise to a human, is something no-one yet understands at all. I constantly ask evolutionists:

"How can you claim that you have a scientific theory of evolution when (you have to admit that) there is (as yet) no scientific theory of development?"

I would argue that the main reason we have no theory of development is because research has been falsely constrained by the Mechanist and Atomist commitments (refer again to *Discipline Philosophies* on page 3). As noted above, I believe we already know enough to conclude that the inherited developmental information is largely non-genic and biological causality operates in non-mechanistic ways.

10. References & Bibliography:

I have sought to helpfully categorise these references, so there will be a repetition of some references. Also, if you are looking for a particular reference, you may need to check several sections.

10.1. Resources for Worldview Analysis

- Bartholomew, Craig G. & Goheen, Michael W (2013), *Christian Philosophy: A Systematic and Narrative Introduction*, Grand Rapids, MI: Baker Academic, ISBN: 978-0801039119.
- Bertrand, J. Mark, *Rethinking Worldview: learning to think, live and speak in this world,* Crossway, 2007, ISBN: 978-1581349344
- Byl, John (2004) *The Divine Challenge on Matter, Mind, Math and Meaning*, Edinburgh: Banner of Truth, ISBN: 978-0851518879.
- Clouser, Roy (2005) *The Myth of Religious Neutrality: an essay on the hidden role of religious belief in theories*, Notre Dame: University of Notre Dame Press, 2nd edn, ISBN: 978-0268023669.
- Clouser, Roy (2007), Knowing with the Heart: Religious Experience and Belief in God, Eugene, OR: Wipf & Stock, 2nd edn, ISBN: 978-1556354328.
- Goheen, Michael W. & Bartholomew, Craig G. (2008) Living at the Crossroads: An

- Introduction to Christian Worldview, London: SPCK, ISBN: 978-0281058860.
- Hardyman, Julian (2006) *Glory Days: living the whole of your life for Jesus,* IVP, ISBN: 978-1-84474-153-3. [Introductory if you know nothing about worldviews]
- Pearcey, Nancy (2005), *Total Truth: liberating Christianity from its cultural captivity*, Wheaton: Crossway Books, 2nd edn.
- Richardson, David W. with Porter, Daniel V. (2016) *Transparent: How to See Through the Powerful Assumptions That Control You*, Franklin, Tennessee: Clovercroft, ISBN: 978-1942557562.

James Sire launched the modern use of worldview analysis by Christians with the first edition of his worldviews survey in 1976. Today there is a superb Sire trilogy:

- Sire, James (2009), *The Universe Next Door: a basic worldview catalogue*, Nottingham: IVP, 5^h edn, ISBN: 978-0830838509.
- Sire, James (2004), *Naming the Elephant: worldview as a concept*, Downers Grove: IVP.
- Sire, James (2006), Why Good Arguments Often Fail: making a more persuasive case for Christ, Leicester: IVP.
- Walsh, Brian & Middleton, Richard (1984), *The Transforming Vision: shaping a Christian worldview*, Downers Grove: IVP, ISBN: 978-0877849735
- Wolters, Albert (2005), Creation Regained: Biblical basics for a Reformational worldview, Grand Rapids: Eerdmans, 2nd edn, ISBN: 978-0802829696

10.2. On the New Atheists

- Berlinski, David (2008) *The Devil's Delusion: Atheism and its scientific pretensions,* Crown Forum, ISBN: 978-0307396266.
- Flew, Antony with Varghese, Roy Abraham (2007), *There is a God: How the world's most notorious atheist changed his mind*, HarperOne, ISBN: 978-0061335297.
- Hedges, Chris (2008) I Don't Believe in Atheists: The dangerous rise of the secular fundamentalist, Continuum, ISBN: 9781847062895.
- Hitchens, Christopher & Wilson, Douglas (2008), *Is Christianity Good for the World?: a debate,* Canon Press, ISBN: 978-1591280538.
- Lennox, John (2007) God's Undertaker: has science buried God? Lion, ISBN: 978-0745953038.
- Pearcey, Nancy (2015) Finding Truth: 5 Principles for Unmasking Atheism, Secularism, and Other God Substitutes, David C. Cook, ISBN:978-0781413084
- Ward, Keith (2008), Why There Almost Certainly Is a God: Doubting Dawkins, Lion, ISBN: 978-0745953304.
- Douglas Wilson (2007), Letter from a Christian Citizen: a response to Letter to a Christian Nation by Sam Harris, American Vision, ISBN: 978-015815753.

10.3. Intelligent Design

John Byl and Tom Goss (2015:41 fn 63) helpfully comment that "The proponents of intelligent design (ID) contend that the universe shows evidence of design by a Creator, versus naturalistic science. Many are

- OEC or TE, and generally avoid discussing the Bible. ID is primarily a science-related strategy for reaching academia."
- Axe, Douglas (2016) *Undeniable: How Biology Confirms Our Intuition that Life is Designed*, HarperOne, ISBN: 978-0062349583.
- Behe, Michael J. (2007), *The Edge of Evolution: The Search for the Limits of Darwinism*, New York: Free Press.
- Behe, Michael J. (2019), *Darwin Devolves: The New Science about DNA that Challenges Evolution*, Harper Collins.
- Dembski, William A. (ed) (1998) *Mere Creation: Science, Faith & Intelligent Design*, Downers Grove, IL: IVP, ISBN: 978-0830815159
- Dembski, William A. & McDowell, Sean (2008) *Understanding Intelligent Design:* Everything You Need to Know in Plain Language, Eugene, OR: Harvest House Publishers,.
- Dembski, William A. & Wells, Jonathan (2008) *The Design of Life: Discovering Signs of Intelligence in Biological Systems*, Dallas, TX: Foundation for Thought and Ethics.
- Denton, Michael J. (1998) *Nature's Destiny: How the Laws of Biology Reveal Purpose in the Universe* by, New York: Free Press, ISBN: 978-0684845098.
- Denton, Michael J. (2016) Fire-Maker: How Humans Were Designed to Harness Fire and Transform our Planet, Seattle: Discovery Institute, ISBN: 978-1936599363.
- Denton, Michael J. (2017) The Wonder of Water: Water's Profound Fitness for Life on Earth and Mankind, Seattle: Discovery Institute, ISBN: 978-1936599479.
- Denton, Michael J, (2018) *Children of Light: The Astonishing Properties of Sunlight That Make Us Possible*, Seattle: Discovery Institute, ISBN:978-1936599592.
- Durston, Kirk (2008) An Introduction to the Concept of Intelligent Design, *New Scholars Society*, February 2008, http://www.newscholars.com/papers/Origins%20and%20Explanations.pdf, accessed 24 October 2009; no longer available online in 2019, but now see Durston, 2017, 2019.
- Durston, Kirk (2017) "On the Astonishing Improbability of Protein Families", *Evolution News*, https://evolutionnews.org/2017/04/on-the-astonishing-improbability-of-protein-families/, posted 05 April 2017, accessed 09 September 2019
- Durston, Kirk (2019) "Why this scientist believes intelligent design was required for biological life", *Quest* (Kirk Durston blog), https://www.kirkdurston.com/blog/idscience, posted 22 July 2019, accessed 09 September 2019.
- Flannery, Michael A. (2008), *Alfred Russel Wallace's Theory of Intelligent Evolution: How Wallace's* World of Life *challenged Darwinism*, Riesel, Texas: Erasmus Press.
- Gonzalez, Guillermo & Richards, Jay (2004), *The Privileged Planet: How Our Place in the Cosmos was Designed for Discovery*, Washington, DC: Regnery.
- Johnson, Phillip (1995) Reason in the Balance: the case against naturalism in science, law and education, Downers Grove, Illinois: IVP.
- Klinghoffer, David (ed) (2010) Signature of Controversy: Responses to Critics of Signature in the Cell, Seattle, WA: Discovery Institute, ISBN: 978-0979014185.
- Meyer, Stephen (2009) Signature in the Cell: DNA and the Evidence for Intelligent Design, New York: HarperOne, ISBN: 978-0061472786 (pbk 2010).

- Meyer, Stephen (2013) Darwin's Doubt: The Explosive Origin of Animal Life and the Case for Intelligent Design, HarperOne, ISBN: 978-0062071477.
- Monton, Bradley (2009) Seeking God in Science: An Atheist Defends Intelligent Design, Peterborough, Ontario: Broadview Press, ISBN: 978-1551118637.
- Nagel, Thomas (2008) 'Public Education and Intelligent Design', *Philosophy & Public Affairs*, **36** (2), pages 187-205.
- Wells, Jonathan (1998), Mere Creation, chapter 2, pages 51-70.
- Wells, Jonathan (2006), *The Politically Incorrect Guide to Darwinism and Intelligent Design*, Washington, DC:Regnery, ISBN: 978-1596980136

Recommended Websites:

Uncommon Descent, https://uncommondescent.com/
Evolution News & Science Today (EN), https://evolutionnews.org/

10.4. Cosmology/Astronomy

- Byl, John (2001) God and Cosmos: A Christian View of Time, Space, and the Universe, Edinburgh, UK: Banner of Truth.
- Gonzalez, Guillermo & Richards, Jay (2004), *The Privileged Planet: How Our Place in the Cosmos was Designed for Discovery*, Washington, DC: Regnery.
- Hartnett, John (2007) Starlight and the New Physics, Atlanta, GA: Creation Book.
- Williams, Alex & Hartnett, John (2005) *Dismantling the Big Bang: God's Universe Rediscovered*, Green Forest, AR: Master Books.

10.5. Geology, Fossils

- Garner, Paul (2009) *The New Creationism: Building Scientific Theory on a Biblical Foundation*, Welwyn Garden City, UK: Evangelical Press.
- Gauger, Ann, Axe, Douglas & Luskin, Casey (2012), *Science and Human Origins*, Seattle WA: Discovery Institute, ISBN: 978-1936599042.
- Lubenow, Marvin L. (2004) Bones of Contention: A Creationist Assessment of Human Fossils, Grand Rapids, MI: Baker.
- Oard, Mike & Reed, John K. (eds) (2009) Rock Solid Answers: The Biblical Truth Behind 14 Geological Questions, Chino Valley, AZ: Creation Research Society.
- Snelling, Andrew (2009) Earth's Catastrophic Past: Geology, Creation and the Flood, Texas: ICR, 2 vols.

10.6. Information Science

- Durston, Kirk (2017) "On the Astonishing Improbability of Protein Families", *Evolution News*, https://evolutionnews.org/2017/04/on-the-astonishing-improbability-of-protein-families/, posted 05 April 2017, accessed 09 September 2019
- Durston, Kirk (2019) "Why this scientist believes intelligent design was required for biological life", Quest (Kirk Durston blog),

- https://www.kirkdurston.com/blog/idscience, posted 22 July 2019, accessed 09 September 2019.
- Johnson, Donald E. (2010) *Programming of Life*, Sylacauga, Alabama: Big Mac Publishers.
- McIntosh, Andy C. (2006) "Functional Information and Entropy in Living Systems", in C. A. Brebbia (ed), *Design and Nature III: Comparing Design in Nature with Science and Engineering, WIT Transactions on Ecology and the Environment*, Vol 87, WIT Press, 2006, pages 115-126, ISBN: 978-1845641665 [First given as invited presentation at the *Third International Conference on Design and Nature*, Wessex Institute of Technology, New Forest, 24th-26th May 2006].
- McIntosh, Andy C.(2009) "Information and Entropy Top-Down or Bottom-Up Development in Living Systems?", *International Journal of Design & Nature and Ecodynamics*, **4** (4), 2009, pages 351-385, *ResearchGate*, https://www.researchgate.net/publication/251007203 Information and Entrop y Top-down or bottom-up development in living systems, accessed 09 September 2019
- McIntosh, Andy C. (2013) "Information and Thermodynamics in Living Systems", Conference Paper, July 2013, ResearchGate, https://www.researchgate.net/publication/269052051_Information_and_Thermodynamics_in_Living_Systems, accessed 09 September 2019.

10.7. Critiques of Theistic Evolution (TE)

- Bell, Philip (2018) Evolution and the Christian Faith: Theistic Evolution in the Light of Scripture, Leominster, UK: Day One, ISBN: 978-1846256073.
- Moreland, J.P. et al (2017) Theistic Evolution: A Scientific, Philosophical and Theological Critique, Wheaton, IL: Crossway, ISBN: 978-1433552861.
- Nevin, Norman C. (ed) (2011) Should Christians Embrace Evolution? Biblical and Scientific Responses, Phillipsburg, NJ: P&R Publishing.

10.8. Critiques of Old Earth Creationism (OEC)

- Mortenson, Terry (2004) The Great Turning Point: The Church's Catastrophic Mistake on Geology Before Darwin, Green Forest, AR: Master Books.
- Sarfati, Jonathan (2004) Refuting Compromise: A Biblical and Scientific Refutation of "Progressive Creationism" (Billions of Years), As Popularized by Astronomer Hugh Ross, Green Forest, AR: Master Books, ISBN: 978-0890514115.

10.9. Creation Evolution – General

- Ashton, John F. (2012), 12 Reasons Why Evolution Cannot Explain the Origin of Life on Earth, Green Forest, AR: Master Books.
- Byl, John (2001), *God and Cosmos: a Christian view of time, space and the universe*, Edinburgh: Banner of Truth, ISBN: 978-0851518008.
- Byl, John & Goss, Tom (2015), *How Should Christians Approach Origins*, Winnipeg, Canada: Word Alive Press, ISBN: 978-1486612123.

- Carter, Robert (ed), 2014), *Evolution's Achilles' Heel*s, Powder Springs, GA: Creation Book Publishers, ISBN: 978-1921643828.
- Denton, Michael J. (1985), *Evolution: A Theory in Crisis*, London: Burnett Books, An important forerunner of the ID movement.
- Denton, Michael J. (2016) *Evolution: Still A Theory in Crisis*, Seattle; Discovery Institute, ISBN: 978-1936599325.
- Edwards, Brian (ed) (2017) *Wonders of Creation: Design in a Fallen World* (Stuart Burgess & Andy McIntosh), Leominster, UK: Day One, ISBN: 978-1846255656.
- Johnson, Phillip E. (1997) *Defeating Darwinism by Opening Minds*, Downers Grove, IL: IVP.
- Jones, Arthur (1972) *Developmental Studies and Speciation in Cichlid Fish*, PhD thesis, Department of Zoology and Comparative Physiology, Birmingham University, UK. Diss S2 B72.
- Jones, Arthur (1982) "The genetic integrity of the 'kinds' (baramin) a working hypothesis", *Creation Research Society Quarterly*, **19** (1), 13-18.
- Jones, Arthur (1982-83) "A creationist critique of homology", *Creation Research Society Quarterly*, **19** (3), 166-175 and **20** (2), 122.
- Jones, Arthur (1998) "Evolution or Creation?" in Jones, Arthur (ed) *Science in Faith:*A Christian Perspective on Teaching Science, Chapter 2, 57-87, Romford:
 Christian Schools' Trust.
- Jones, Arthur (2006), "Science and the Bible", in Campbell-Jack, W.C. & McGrath, Gavin J. (eds), *New Dictionary of Christian Apologetics*, Leicester: IVP, pages 644-646.
- Lennox, John C. (2009) God's Undertaker: Has Science Buried God?, Oxford, UK: Lion.
- Linton, Alan (2001) "Scant Search for the Maker", *Times Higher Education Supplement*, No 1483, 20 April 2001, page 29.
- Nelson, Paul (2008) *On Common Descent*, University of Chicago Evolutionary Monographs, 16, University of Chicago Press.
- Sanford, John C. (2008) *Genetic Entropy & the Mystery of the Genome*, 2nd edn, Lima, NY: Elim Publishing.
- Spetner, Lee (1997) Not By Chance! Shattering the Modern Theory of Evolution, Judaica Press, ISBN: 978-1880582244.
- Spetner, Lee (2014) The Evolution Revolution: Why Thinking People Are Rethinking the Theory of Evolution, Judaica Press, ISBN: 978-1607631552.
- Ward, Keith (1996, God, Chance and Necessity, Oxford: Oneworld.
- Weiland, Carl (2012) World Winding Down: Understanding the Law of Disorder and How It Demands a Creator, Powder Springs, GA: Creation Book Publishers, ISBN: 978-1921643729.
- Wells, Jonathan (2000) *Icons of Evolution: Science or Myth? Why much of what we teach about evolution is wrong*, Washington, DC: Regnery.
- Wells, Jonathan (2017) Zombie Science: More Icons of Evolution, Seattle: Discovery Institute, ISBN: 978-1936599448
- Wiker, Ben (2009) *The Darwin Myth: The life and lies of Charles Darwin*, Washington, DC: Regnery.
- Wise, Kurt P. (2002) Faith, Form and Time: What the Bible Teaches and Science Confirms about Creation and the Age of the Universe, Nashville, TN: Broadman & Holman.
- Wood, Todd (2008) Animal and Plant Baramins, Eugene, OR: Wipf & Stock.

Recommended websites:

Creation Ministries International (CMI), https://creation.com/
Institute for Creation Research (ICR), https://www.icr.org/homepage/
Answers in Genesis (AiG), https://www.icr.org/homepage/
Answers in Genesis (AiG), https://www.icr.org/homepage/
bylogos (John Byl's blog), https://bylogos.blogspot.com/
Truth in Science (TiS), https://www.truthinscience.org.uk/

10.10. Critiques of Naturalism

- Bealer, G. & Koons, R. (eds) (2010), The Waning of Materialism, OUP.
- Beilby, James (ed) (2002) Naturalism Defeated? Essays on Plantinga's Evolutionary Argument Against Naturalism, Ithaca, New York: Cornell University Press, ISBN: 978-0801487637
 - Plantinga, Alvin, "Introduction: The Evolutionary Argument Against Naturalism", pages 1-12
 - Plantinga, Alvin, "Reply to Beilby's Cohorts", pages 204-275.
- Byl, John (2004) *The Divine Challenge on Matter, Mind, Math and Meaning*, Edinburgh: Banner of Truth, ISBN: 978-0851518879.
- Goetz, Stewart & Taliaferro, Charles (2008), *Naturalism*, Grand Rapids, Michigan: Eerdmans.
- Hunter, Cornelius G. (2007), Science's Blind Spot: The Unseen Religion of Scientific Naturalism, Grand Rapids, Michigan: Brazos Press.
- Lennox, John C. (2019) Can Science Explain Everything? Good Book Co., ISBN: 978-1784984113.
- Martin, Graham Dunstan (2005), *Does it Matter? The Unsustainable World of the Materialists*, Edinburgh: Floris Books.
- Martin, Graham Dunstan (2008), *Living On Purpose: Meaning, Intention and Value*, Edinburgh: Floris Books.
- Moreland, J.P. (2009), *The Recalcitrant Imago Dei: Human Persons and the Failure of Naturalism*, London: SCM.
- Nagel, Thomas (2012) Mind and Cosmos: Why the Materialist Neo-Darwinian Conception of Nature Is Almost Certainly False, OUP (USA), ISBN: 978-0199919758.
- Plantinga, Alvin (2011) Where the Conflict Really Lies: Science, Religion, & Naturalism, New York: OUP, ISBN: 978-0199812097.
- Rea, Michael C. (2002), World Without Design: The Ontological Consequences of Naturalism, Oxford: Clarendon Press.
- Robinson, Marilyn (2010), Absence of Mind: The Dispelling of Inwardness from the Modern Myth of the Self, Yale University Press.

10.11. DNA is Only Part of Heredity

- Goodwin, Brian C. (1931-2009) (1994) How the Leopard Changed Its Spots: The Evolution of Complexity, Weidenfeld & Nicolson, London; 2nd edn, Phoenix, 1997, ISBN: 978-0753801710.
- Lewontin, Richard (1993) *The Doctrine of DNA: Biology as Ideology*, Penguin. Maynard Smith, John (1982), "Commentary on Webster and Goodwin's 'The Origin of

- Species: a structuralist approach" *Journal of Social and Biological Structures* **5** (1), 1982, 49-51 (quote from page 51).
- Maynard Smith, John (1983), "Evolution and Development" In Goodwin, B C, Holder, N & Wylie, C C (eds), *Development and Evolution*, Cambridge University Press, 1983, 33-47 (quote from page 39).
- Moss, Lenny (2003), What Genes Can't Do, MIT Press, 2003.
- Sapp, Jan (1987), Beyond the Gene: Cytoplasmic Inheritance and the Struggle for Authority in Genetics, New York: OUP.
- Sapp, Jan (2003), Genesis: The Evolution of Biology, Oxford University Press, 2003.

Discussions by ID proponents:

Jonathan Wells (1998), In Dembski, William A. (ed) *Mere Creation,* chapter 2, pages 51-70.

Jonathan Wells (2000), Icons of Evolution, chapter 9, pages 177-193.

Jonathan Wells (2006), *The Politically Incorrect Guide to Darwinism and Intelligent Design*, chapter 3, pages 25-36.

Steve Meyer (2009), Signature in the Cell, Epilogue, pages 473-480.

10.12. Reading Genesis

- Drake, Michael L. (2017) *The Misted World of Genesis One*, Auckland, NZ: Wycliffe Scholastic, ISBN: 978-0994149503.

 Contains excellent responses to the work of John ('Jack') Collins (on *Genesis*
 - and Adam) and John H. Walton (of 'Lost World of ...' series of books).
- Kelly, Douglas F. (2009), Creation and Change: Genesis 1.1-2.4 in the light of changing scientific paradigms, Fearn, Ross-shire, UK; Christian Focus, ISBN: 978-1857922837.
- Kulikovsky, Andrew S. (2009) *Creation, Fall, Restoration: A Biblical Theology of Creation*, Fearn, Ross-shire, UK: Christian Focus, ISBN: 978-1845504465.
- MacArthur, John (2001) *The Battle for the Beginning: Creation, Evolution and the Bible*, Word Publishing, ISBN: 978-0849916250; pbk, 2012, Nashville, TN: Thomas Nelson, ISBN: 978-0785271518.
- McIntosh, Andy (2014) *Genesis for Today: The relevance of the Creation/Evolution debate to today's society*, 5^h edn, Leominster, UK: Day One Publications, ISBN: 978-1846254291.
- McIntosh, Andy (2016) *Genesis 1-11: A Verse by Verse Commentary*, Leominster, UK: Day One Publications, ISBN: 978-1846255113.
- Mortenson, Terry & Ury, Thane H. (eds) (2008) *Coming to Grips with Genesis: Biblical Authority and the Age of the Earth*, Green Forest, AR: Master Books, ISBN: 978-0890515488.
- Peet, J.H. John (2013) Does the Bible require a belief in 'special creation'? Leominster, UK: Day One Publications, ISBN: 978-1846254130.
- Sarfati, Jonathan D. (2015) *The Genesis Account: A theological, historical, and scientific commentary on Genesis 1-11*, Powder Springs, GA: Creation Book Publishers, ISBN: 978-1921643910.
- Van Doodewaard, William (2015) *The Quest for the Historical Adam: Genesis, Hermeneutics, and Human Origins*, Grand Rapids, MI: Reformation Heritage Books, ISBN: 978-1601783776.

10.13. Other General References in These Notes

- Crick, Francis (1968), "The origin of the genetic code", *Journal of Molecular Biology*, **38** (3), page 372.
- Darwin, Francis (ed) (1903), *More Letters of Charles Darwin,* New York: D Appleton, vol 2.
- Davies, Paul (1995), Are We Alone? Penguin.
- Futuyma, Douglas J (1979) Evolutionary Biology, Sunderland, Mass: Sinauer.
- Futuyma, Douglas J (1986) *Evolutionary Biology*, 2nd edn, Sunderland, Mass: Sinauer.
- Grene, Marjorie (1966), The Knower and the Known, London: Faber & Faber.
- Hershey, A D (1970) 'Genes and hereditary characteristics', Nature, 226, 697-700.
- Jukes, Thomas H (1966) Molecules and Evolution, Columbia University Press.
- Kauffman, Stuart (1995) At Home in the Universe: The Search for Laws of Self-Organization and Complexity, London: Viking (Penguin).
- Klinckmann, Evelyn (1970), *BSCS Biology Teachers' Handbook*, 2nd edn, New York: John Wiley.
- Larmer, Robert (2002) "Is There Anything Wrong with 'God of the Gaps' Reasoning?" *International Journal for Philosophy of Religion*, **52**, 2002, pages 129-142.
- Larson, Robert (2009) "Revisiting God of the Gaps", *Perspectives on Science and Christian Faith*, **61** (1), March 2009, pages 13-22.
- Lewis, C.S. (1944), "Is Theology Poetry?" *The Socratic Digest*, **3**, 1945, 25-35, reprinted in Lewis, 1962, pages 150-165.
- Lewis, C.S. (1962) *They Asked for a Paper: papers and addresses*, London: Geoffrey Bles, pages viii, 9-211.
- Lewis, C.S. (1964) *The Discarded Image: An Introduction to Medieval and Renaissance Literature*, Cambridge: Cambridge University Press.
- Lewis, C.S. (1965) Screwtape Proposes a Toast and Other Pieces, Fount, 1977, "Is Theology Poetry?" pages 41-58.
- Lewis, C.S. (1967) "The Funeral of a Great Myth", in *Christian Reflections*, London: Geoffrey Bles, 1967 (Fount (Collins), 1981, pages 110-123).
- Lewontin, Richard (1997"Billions and Billions of Demons", review of *The Demon-Haunted World* by Carl Sagan, *New York Review of Books*, 9 January 1997, page 31.
- Lovejoy, Arthur O. (1936) *The Great Chain of Being: A Study of the History of an Idea*, Cambridge, Massachusetts: Harvard University Press.
- Mann, Charles (1991) "Lynn Margulis: Science's Unruly Earth Mother", *Science*, **252** (5004),19 April 1991, pages 378-381.
- Meyer, Stephen C. & Keas, Michael N. (2001), "The Meanings of Evolution", 16 May 2001, Seattle: Discovery Institute *Center for Science and Culture*, https://www.discovery.org/, accessed 09 September 2019.
- Midgley, Mary (1985) Evolution as a Religion: strange hopes and stranger fears, London: Methuen.
- More, Louis (1925) The Dogma of Evolution, Princeton University Press.
- National Academy of Sciences, USA (1984), Science and Creationism: A View from the National Academy of Sciences. Washington, DC: National Academy Press, January 1984.
- Perrott, Elizabeth *et al.* (1974), *Biology: An Environmental Approach. Teachers' Guide.* London: Murray.
- Polanyi, Michael (1968) "Life's Irreducible Structure", in Marjorie Grene (ed), Knowing

- and Being: Essays by Michael Polanyi, Chicago: University of Chicago Press, 1969, chapter 14, pages 225-239.
- Pumphrey, Richard (1950), "Hearing", Symposia of the Society for Experimental Biology, **4**, 1950, pp 5-6.
- Ross, Hugh (2001) The Creator and the Cosmos: How the Greatest Scientific Discoveries of the Century Reveal God, Colorado Springs: NavPress, 3rd edn.
- Ross, Marcus R. (2005), "Who Believes What? Clearing up confusion over Intelligent Design and Young-Earth Creationism", *Journal of Geoscience Education* **53** (3), 2005, pages. 319-323, https://www.nagt.org/nagt/jge/abstracts/may05.html#v53p319 and https://digitalcommons.liberty.edu/bio_chem_fac_pubs/79/, both accessed 09 September 2019
- Ross, Marcus & Nelson, Paul (2006), "A Taxonomy of Teleology: Phillip Johnson, the Intelligent Design Community and Young-Earth Creationism", in William A. Dembski (ed), *Darwin's Nemesis: Philip Johnson and the Intelligent Design Movement*, Leicester: IVP Academic, 2006, chapter 16, pages 261-275, http://digitalcommons.liberty.edu/bio_chem_fac_pubs/83/, accessed 09 September 2019.
- Sinnott, Edmund, Dunn, Leslie Clarence & Dobzhansky, Theodosius (1958), *Principles of Genetics*. New York: McGraw-Hill, 5th edn.
- Snoke, David (2001) "In Favor of God-of-the-Gaps Reasoning", *Perspectives on Science and Christian Faith*, **53** (3), 2001, pages 152-158.
- Stewart, Ian (1998) Life's Other Secret: The New Mathematics of the Living World, Penguin.
- Thomson, Keith S. (1982), "The Meanings of Evolution", *American Scientist*, **70**, September-October 1982, pages 529-531.
- Williams, C A (1967) "The Ascension and Apotheosis of DNA", Science 155, 308.
- © Arthur Jones, September 2019

11. About the Author

Arthur Jones holds a doctorate in biology (1972) for a thesis exploring alternatives to materialistic evolution [aka Darwinism] in the field of origins. Until he retired in 2013, he was (from 1976) a Chartered Biologist (CBiol), a member of the Royal Society of Biology (MRSB). During a teaching career spanning forty years, he has been a college science lecturer, schoolteacher, teacher trainer and the headteacher of a pioneering Christian school in Bristol. From 1995-97, he was a part-time lecturer in science and religion in the Faculty of Continuing Education, Birkbeck College, University of London and from 1996-97 in the Department for Continuing Education, *University of Bristol.* His science and religion courses won two Templeton awards. From 2000 to 2013 he wrote and taught worldview-based courses for Christian professionals, accredited by three more UK universities (University of Wales. Lampeter, University of Wales, Bangor, and York St Johns), at both graduate and postgraduate levels. He was also a Research Consultant for Curriculum Development to the Christian Schools' Trust and authored Science in Faith: A Christian Perspective on Teaching Science (CST, December 1998). He has also authored No Home & Alone: A School Programme on Homelessness (Global Concern, 1999), and Is Creationism a Science Stopper?, a chapter in John Ashton

(ed), *In Six Days: Why 50 Scientists Choose to Believe in Creation* (New Holland, 1999). His last paid employment was as Tutor with *Responsibility for Co-ordination and Development of the Foundation Degree in Evangelism*, Mission Based Training, *Church Army*, Sheffield. In Education he was also a member of the *Movement for Christian Democracy's Education Policy Group* from 1991 to 1997. After several changes of sponsoring organizations, this group became the *Education Commission* of the UK *Evangelical Alliance*, of which Arthur was a founding member in 2013. From 2004-2011 he was a Trustee (and Company Director) of the *Association of Christian Teachers* (ACT, http://www.christian-teachers.org.uk/), and was the Chair from 2007-2011. Currently he is a member of the Scientific Panel of *Truth in Science* (TiS, https://www.truthinscience.org.uk/) and a trustee of the *Manchester Centre for the Study of Christianity and Islam* (MCSCI, https://www.mcsci.org.uk/) based at the Manchester *Nazarene Theological College* (NTC, https://nazarene.ac.uk/.

© Dr Arthur Jones, September 2019 Email: <u>arthurjones43@gmail.com</u>

Mob: 07831 160967

Web: www.allofliferedeemed.co.uk/jones